RECEIVED

10-27-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2015AP1877-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LAZARO OZUNA,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District II, Affirming an Order Denying Expunction Entered in the Walworth County Circuit Court, the Honorable Kristine E. Drettwan, Presiding.

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

> > ALISHA MCKAY State Bar No. 1090751 mckaya@opd.wi.gov

COLLEEN MARION State Bar No. 1089028 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Office of the State Public Defender P.O. Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-3440

ISSUE PRESENTED

At sentencing, the circuit court ordered expunction under Wis. Stat. 973.015(1m)(a)1. upon Ozuna's successful completion of his sentence.

> Whether a probationer must perfectly comply with his or her conditions of probation to meet the "successful completion of the sentence" requirement for expunction under Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1m)(a)1., as that phrase is defined by § 973.015(1m)(b).

By denying Ozuna expunction, the circuit court implicitly answered this question in the affirmative.

The court of appeals affirmed the denial of expunction. It held Ozuna did not satisfy the conditions of his probation due to an alleged violation of his no alcohol condition.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Both oral argument and publication are customary for cases decided by this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged 17-year-old Lazaro Ozuna with misdemeanor criminal damage to property and misdemeanor disorderly conduct. (1). Ozuna pled guilty to both charges. (13; 24:7-8; App. 101).

At sentencing, the Walworth County Circuit Court, the Honorable James L. Carlson presiding, agreed to the joint sentencing recommendation of the parties. (24:9-10; App. 106-07). The court imposed and stayed a 120-day jail sentence on count one and a concurrent 30-day sentence for count two, and ordered one year of probation. (24:2-3, 9-10; App. 106). The court imposed the following conditions of probation:

- Pay a \$250 fine
- Pay court costs
- Pay supervision fees
- Submit DNA sample and pay DNA surcharges
- Complete AODA assessment and follow through with treatment recommendations
- Receive counseling as recommended by agent
- Not to possess weapons
- Not to possess or consume alcohol or illegal drugs and not to possess drug paraphernalia
- Immediately disclose any prescription for medication to agent
- No early termination of probation

(24:9-10; 13:1-2; App. 101-02, 106-07).¹

¹ The circuit court initially ordered payment of \$1,780.00 in restitution as a condition of probation; however, restitution was set at zero at a subsequent hearing. (13:1; 26:2-3).

The circuit court also agreed with the State's recommendation to order expunction under Wis. Stat. § 973.015 upon Ozuna's successful completion of his sentence. (24:3, 10; App. 107). The court stated: "I will allow expungement if there is no violation of probable cause of illegal conduct . . ." (24:10; App. 107). One year later, the Department of Corrections (DOC) discharged Ozuna from probation. (14:1; App. 108). Shortly thereafter, on June 5, 2015, Ozuna's probation agent filed a DOC form titled "Verification of Satisfaction of Probation Conditions for Expungement" in the circuit court. (14; App. 108-10).

The Verification Form indicated that Ozuna "successfully completed . . . probation." (14:1; App. 108). However, the form also indicated that all court ordered conditions had not been met due to outstanding supervision fees, outstanding court-ordered financial obligations, and an alleged violation of the no alcohol condition. (14:1; App. 108). Ozuna's agent attached a balance inquiry to the Verification Form, which showed his outstanding balance as well as \$700 in total payments made. (14:3; App. 110).

On June 12, 2015, the circuit court denied Ozuna expunction by writing "Expungement DENIED KED"² on the bottom of the Verification Form. (14:1; App. 108). Ozuna had no notice and no hearing was held.

The court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's denial of expunction holding that Ozuna did not successfully complete his sentence under Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1m)(b) because, according to the DOC, he failed to comply with the no alcohol condition of his probation. *State v. Ozuna*, No. 2015AP1877-CR, unpublished slip op., ¶1 (Wis. Ct. App.

 $^{^{2}}$ KED are the initials of the Honorable Kristine E. Drettwan.

Apr. 13, 2016). (App. 111-16). The court of appeals reasoned that the expunction requirement—"satisfy the conditions of probation"—requires perfection stating: "Although applicable to horseshoes and hand grenades, 'close enough' does not appear to cut it." *Id.*, ¶10. (App. 115).

On September 13, 2016, this Court granted Ozuna's petition for review.

ARGUMENT

I. Ozuna is Entitled to Expunction of His Misdemeanor Convictions Because a Probationer Need Not Perfectly Comply with the Conditions of Probation to Successfully Complete a Probationary Sentence under Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1m)(a)1. and (b).

A. Introduction.

In Wisconsin and across the United States, court records are easily accessed and searched by the general public at no cost. *See* James B. Jacobs, *The Eternal Criminal Record* 5 (2015). In Wisconsin, court records are available through the Wisconsin Court System Circuit Court Access, commonly known as CCAP, as public records under our open records law.³ A simple search of CCAP or a similar court record database from another state reveals "various dockets, indexes, and case files created to facilitate the processing of criminal cases from the first court appearance through arraignment, pretrial motions, trial, and sentencing." Jacobs, *supra* at 68.

³ Wisconsin Court System Circuit Court Access, Access to the Public Records of the Wisconsin Circuit Courts, https://wcca.wicourts.gov/index.xsl.

While open access to court records promotes the transparency of our judicial system, open access is not without consequences, especially to individuals with criminal records. Re-integration into society following a criminal conviction is frustrated by the availability of criminal records to employers and landlords, in particular. Jon Geffen & Stefanie Letze, Chained to the Past: An Overview of Criminal Expungement Law in Minnesota, 31 Wm. Mitchell L. Rev. 1331, 1332-33 (2005). For example, in a classic study of legal stigma, researchers submitted résumés of applicants with varying criminal records and found employers less likely to consider applicants who had any prior contact with the criminal justice system. Richard D. Schwartz and Jerome H. Skolnick, Two Studies of Legal Stigma, 10 Soc. Probs. 133, 133-38 (1962). A more recent study aimed at assessing the hiring of individuals with criminal records in Milwaukee found "the ratio of callbacks for nonoffenders relative to offenders for whites was two to one, this same ratio for blacks is close to three to one." Devah Pager, Double Jeopardy: Race, Crime, and Getting a Job, 2005 Wis. L. Rev. 617, 642.

These findings are especially troubling considering that research into recidivism "consistently shows that finding quality steady employment is one of the strongest predictors of desistance from crime." *Id.* at 647. Chief Justice Earl Warren recognized these difficulties stating "[c]onviction of a felony imposes a status upon a person which not only makes him vulnerable to future sanctions . . . but which also seriously affects his reputation and economic opportunities." *Parker v. Ellis*, 362 U.S. 574, 593-94 (1960) (Warren, C.J., dissenting) *overruled in part by Carafas v. LaVallee*, 391 U.S. 234 (1968).

In 1975, to offer some relief from the harsh realities faced by Wisconsinites with criminal records, the Wisconsin

Legislature enacted a statute to allow expunction of misdemeanor convictions for individuals under the age of 21 upon successful completion of their sentence. Laws of 1975 ch. 39, § 711m.⁴ The legislature set forth Wis. Stat. § 973.015 in the same act that created the Youthful Offenders Act and "[t]he Purpose of the Youthful Offenders Act was to shield qualified youthful offenders from some of the harsh consequences of criminal convictions." *State v. Anderson*, 160 Wis. 2d 435, 440, 466 N.W.2d 681 (Ct. App. 1991); *see also State v. Leitner*, 2002 WI 77, ¶38, 253 Wis. 2d 449, 646 N.W.2d 341.

B. Standard of Review and Principles of Statutory Interpretation.

This case requires the court to interpret the current version of Wis. Stat. § 973.015 (2013-14) in accordance with its long-standing purpose to determine the meaning of an expunction requirement: "satisfied the conditions of probation."

Statutory interpretation presents a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Johnson*, 2009 WI 57, ¶22, 318 Wis. 2d 21, 767 N.W.2d 207. Statutory interpretation begins with the words of the statute and "[s]tatutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. Context and structure are also important to meaning. *Id.*, ¶46. "Therefore, statutory language is

⁴ In 2009, the legislature broadened Wis. Stat. § 973.015 by raising the age requirement to 25 and by allowing some felony convictions to qualify for expunction. *See* 2009 Wis. Act 75, §§3384-86.

interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *Id.*

Wisconsin courts will generally only consult extrinsic sources of statutory interpretation, such as legislative history, if the language of the statute is ambiguous. *Id.*, ¶50. "[A] statute is ambiguous if it is capable of being understood by reasonably well-informed persons in two or more senses." *Id.*, ¶47.

Finally, when faced with competing reasonable interpretations of a statute, a reviewing court must choose the interpretation that produces a constitutional result. *Dane Cty.* Dept. Human Servs. v. P.P., 2005 WI 32, ¶17, 279 Wis. 2d 169, 694 N.W.2d 344; Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co. v. Wis. Dept. of Rev., 222 Wis. 2d 650, 667, 586 N.W.2d 872 (1998) ("A court should avoid interpreting a statute in such a way that would render it unconstitutional when a reasonable interpretation exists that would render the legislation constitutional."); State ex rel. Strykowski v. Wilkie, 81 Wis. 2d 491, 526, 261 N.W.2d 434, (1978) ("Given a choice of reasonable interpretations of a statute, this court must select the construction which results in constitutionality.").

> C. Ozuna Meets Each Requirement for Successful Completion of Sentence under Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1m)(b); Therefore, He is Entitled to Expunction Under § 973.015(1m)(a)1.

Wisconsin Stat. § 973.015(1m)(a)1. lays out the requirements for expunction. It provides, in pertinent part:

Subject to subd. 2. and except as provided in subd. 3., when a person is under the age of 25 at the time of the commission of an offense for which the person has been found guilty in a court for violation of a law for which the maximum period of imprisonment is 6 years or less, the court may order at the time of sentencing that the record be expunged upon successful completion of the sentence if the court determines the person will benefit and society will not be harmed by this disposition.

There is no dispute that Ozuna met the initial requirements for expunction. First, he was 17 years old at the time of the offenses. (1:1) Second, he pled guilty to both offenses. (24:7-8).Third, the maximum period of imprisonment for the offenses—a Class A and a Class B misdemeanor-falls well below the six year maximum. See Wis. Stat. § 939.51(3)(a)-(b) (indicating 9 months maximum imprisonment for a Class A misdemeanor and 90 days maximum imprisonment for a Class B misdemeanor). Finally, in accordance with *State v. Matasek*, 2014 WI 27, ¶6, 353 Wis. 2d 601, 846 N.W.2d 811, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion at Ozuna's sentencing when it declared Ozuna eligible for expunction upon successful completion of his sentence. (24:10; App. 107).

What is at issue is whether Ozuna "successfully completed the sentence" as that phrase is defined in Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1m)(b), which provides, in full:

A person has successfully completed the sentence if the person has not been convicted of a subsequent offense and, if on probation, the probation has not been revoked and the probationer has satisfied the conditions of probation. Upon successful completion of the sentence the detaining or probationary authority shall issue a certificate of discharge which shall be forwarded to the court of record and which shall have the effect of expunging the record. If the person has been imprisoned, the detaining authority shall also forward a copy of the certificate of discharge to the department.

In *State v. Hemp*, 2014 WI 129, ¶¶16-17, 359 Wis. 2d 320, 856 N.W.2d 811, this Court recently interpreted this exact statutory language and held that a probationer's successful completion of probation automatically entitled him to expunction.⁵ Specifically, the court held: "an individual defendant . . . who is on probation successfully completes probation if (1) he has not been convicted of a subsequent offense; (2) his probation has not been revoked; and (3) he has satisfied all the conditions of probation."⁶ *Id.*, ¶22. The court continued: "If a probationer satisfies these three criteria, he has earned expungement, and is automatically entitled to expungement of the underlying charge." *Id.*, ¶23. Here, Ozuna meets each requirement for expunction.

1. Ozuna was not convicted of a subsequent offense.

First, Ozuna was not convicted of a subsequent offense while on probation. The Verification Form submitted by Ozuna's agent lists an alleged citation for underage drinking. (14:1; App. 108). The record contains no further information about the alleged citation. Ozuna had no opportunity to challenge this assertion. However, even assuming for the

 $^{^{5}}$ In *Hemp*, this Court interpreted the 2009-10 version of Wis. Stat. § 973.015, which the legislature has subsequently amended in 2011, 2013, and 2015. As a result of 2013 amendment, the numbering of the applicable subsections has changed, but the statutory language has not. *See* 2013 Wis. Act 362.

⁶ Wisconsin Stat. § 973.015(1m)(b) states: "satisfy *the* conditions of probation." *Hemp* used slightly different language stating this requirement as "satisfy *all* the conditions of probation." (emphases added).

purpose of argument that it is true, an underage drinking citation is not a conviction of a subsequent offense for the purposes of the expunction statute.

"Offense" is not defined in Wis. Stat. § 973.015 or Wis. Stat. § 967.02, which defines certain words and phrases used in Chapters 967 through 976. However, the common and accepted meaning of "offense" is a crime or criminal offense opposed to a civil forfeiture. For example, offense is commonly defined as "a transgression of law; a crime." *Offense, The American Heritage Dictionary* 1222 (5th ed. 2011).

"offense" Importantly, the term appears in 973.015(1m)(a)1., which the court of appeals has determined refers to "law violations where detention (or probation) can be ordered upon conviction." State v. Frett, 2014 WI App 127, ¶7, 359 Wis. 2d 246, 858 N.W.2d 397 (holding that expunction is not authorized for civil forfeitures). "[S]tatutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closelyrelated statutes" Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶46. Furthermore, "[w]hen the same term is used repeatedly in a single statutory section, it is a reasonable deduction that the legislature intended that the term possess an identical meaning each time it appears." Coutts v. Wisconsin Ret. Bd., 209 Wis. 2d 655, 668-69, 562 N.W.2d 917 (1997). It would be unreasonable and counter to principles of statutory interpretation to construe "offense" in § 973.015(1m)(b) to include civil forfeitures while interpreting the same word in § 973.015(1m)(a)1. to exclude civil forfeitures.

Here, the alleged underage drinking citation would be punishable by a forfeiture of \$500 or less. *See* Walworth County Municipal Code § 38-34(2) (adopting Wis. Stat. § 125.07 governing underage possession of alcohol). The legislature has determined that "[c]onduct punishable only by a forfeiture is not a crime." Wis. Stat. § 939.12. Therefore, an alleged underage drinking citation is not a subsequent offense for the purposes of the expunction statute.

2. Ozuna's probation was not revoked.

There can be no dispute that Ozuna's probation was not revoked. Rather, he was successfully discharged from probation on May 27, 2015, as evidenced by the Verification Form his agent filed in the circuit court. (14:1; App. 108).

- 3. Ozuna satisfied the conditions of probation.
 - Ozuna's probation a. agent determined that he met all including requirements, the "satisfied conditions the of probation" requirement, thus effectuating automatic expunction under State v. Hemp.

Wisconsin Stat. § 973.015(1m)(b) states, in part: "Upon successful completion of the sentence the detaining or probationary authority *shall* issue a certificate of discharge which *shall* be forwarded to the court of record and which *shall* have the effect in expunging the record." (emphasis added). Here, Ozuna's agent determined that he had successfully completed probation and that he had successfully completed his sentence for the purpose of expunction. As a result of this determination, the agent filed the Verification Form with the circuit court; therefore, expunction should have automatically occurred. The agent used the Verification Form, rather than a certificate of discharge, to communicate successful completion of probation because, as will be explained, the DOC does not issue certificates of discharge to misdemeanants.

In *Hemp*, this Court recently examined the language of the expunction statute and held that the statutory language dictates a self-executing process. Hemp, 359 Wis. 2d 320, ¶27. Meaning once proof of discharge is forwarded to the circuit court, "expungement is effectuated." Id. In so holding, this Court rejected the court of appeals' conclusion that a "certificate of discharge must be approved by the circuit court." Id., ¶36. Instead, once a circuit court has made an initial determination regarding expunction at sentencing under *Matasek*, 353 Wis. 2d 601, ¶6, it plays no further role in the expunction process. *Hemp*, 359 Wis. 2d 320, ¶27. This point is repeated throughout *Hemp*. Id., ¶¶4, 15-16, 23-24, 25, 27, 33, 40, 43 (referring to the expunction process as self-executing or automatic).

Put differently, the expunction process set forth by the legislature, as detailed in *Hemp*, places the decision-making responsibility of whether an offender has completed his or her probationary sentence for the purposes of expunction with the detaining or probationary authority rather than the circuit court.

Although *Hemp* and the language of § 973.015(1m)(b) refer to the forwarding of a certificate of discharge as the mechanism by which expunction automatically occurs, certificates of discharge are not issued for the completion of

probation for misdemeanor offenses.⁷ *See* Wis. Stat. § 973.09(5)(b); Wis. Admin. Code DOC § 328.16(2). In accordance with § 973.09(5)(a)-(b) and administrative code, the DOC issues probationers a certificate of discharge for the completion of probation for felony charges and gives "Notice of Case Status Change" to individuals who successfully complete probation for misdemeanor offenses.⁸ Accordingly, there is no certificate of discharge for Ozuna's agent to forward to the circuit court.⁹ Regardless of the documentation issued, the DOC is required to notify the court of completion of the probationary period in all cases. Wis. Stat. § 973.09(5)(c).

Here, Ozuna's agent forwarded a DOC form titled "Verification of Satisfaction of Probation Conditions for Expungement" to the circuit court. (14; App. 108). The DOC Electronic Case Reference Manual explains that this form is used for offenders who have met the expunction requirements, while a form titled "Failure to Meet Criteria for Expungement" is used for offenders who have not met the

⁷ The defendant in *Hemp* was convicted of a felony drug offense and placed on probation; therefore, certificates of discharge were issued at the completion of sentence. *State v. Hemp*, 2014 WI 129, ¶5, 359 Wis. 2d 320, 856 N.W.2d 811. (App. 120-21)

⁸ See Wisconsin DOC Electronic Case Reference Manual, *Procedures Prior to Discharge: Case Closing*, § .02 Notification (2012), http://doc.helpdocsonline.com/case-closing/transition/status-change ("A copy of the Notice of Case Status Change should be forwarded to misdemeanant offenders upon discharge, as certificates are not issued for misdemeanants.").

 $^{^{9}}$ A prior statute required the DOC to issue certificates of discharge to all individuals who completed probation. *See* Wis. Stat. § 973.09(5) (1995-96) ("When the probationer has satisfied the conditions of his or her probation, the probationer shall be discharged and the department shall issue the probationer a certificate of final discharge, a copy of which shall be filed with the clerk.").

§ 973.015 requirements.¹⁰ The fact that Ozuna's agent forwarded the Verification Form to the circuit court communicates her determination that Ozuna met the requirements for expunction.

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