RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-16-2016

IN SUPREME COUR FLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2015AP1877-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LAZARO OZUNA,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II, AFFIRMING AN ORDER DENYING EXPUNCTION ENTERED IN THE WALWORTH COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE KRISTINE E. DRETTWAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Further, there are good reasons for why the expunction statute imposes requirements more probationers than prisoners. "[T]here is a significant distinction between the status and freedom enjoyed by one on probation or parole and one confined in a penal institution." State ex rel. Johnson v. Cady, 50 Wis. 2d 540, 548, 185 N.W.2d 306 (1971). Conditions of community supervision are the price defendants pay in return for their conditional freedom from confinement. See Ashford v. Div. of Hearings & Appeals, 177 Wis. 2d 34, 44-45, 501 N.W.2d 824 (Ct. App. 1993).

In short, Ozuna is not entitled to expunction because he violated the no-alcohol condition of probation.³

C. A circuit court may determine whether a defendant has successfully completed his sentence such that he is entitled to expunction.

The analysis above shows why the circuit court reached the right conclusion when it denied Ozuna expunction. The issue now becomes whether the circuit court was allowed to determine whether Ozuna was entitled to expunction. It was allowed to do so.

As Ozuna notes, a probation agent is in the best position to observe a defendant's conduct. (Ozuna Br. 15-16.) However, interpretation and application of a statute are legal questions that a court reviews de novo. *Heritage Farms II*, 339 Wis. 2d 125, ¶ 24 (citation omitted). Accordingly, although a circuit court may defer to a probation agent's observations and factual inferences regarding a probationer's conduct, a circuit court may independently review a probation agent's determination as to whether a defendant is legally entitled to expunction.

The State concedes that Ozuna met the second statutory requirement for earning expunction because his probation was not revoked. The record is unclear as to whether Ozuna met the first requirement. Ozuna's probation discharge form left unchecked a box in front of an item that read, "The offender has not been convicted of a subsequent offense." (14:1.) The State concedes that Ozuna was not convicted of underage drinking. Accordingly, this Court need not resolve Ozuna's argument that underage drinking is not an "offense" within the meaning of the expunction statute. (See Ozuna Br. 10.) But, the record is unclear as to whether Ozuna was convicted of an offense besides underage drinking while on probation.

Here, the circuit court apparently deferred to the probation agent's factual assertion that Ozuna had been cited for underage drinking and independently reviewed whether Ozuna was legally entitled to expunction. (See 14:1.)

Those dual standards apply in similar contexts. For example, in determining whether a traffic stop was lawful, a court defers to the factual observations and reasonable inferences drawn by a police officer in light of the officer's training and experience. *See State v. Drexler*, 199 Wis. 2d 128, 134, 544 N.W.2d 903 (Ct. App. 1995). However, a court still reviews de novo whether the facts meet the legal standard for a valid stop. *Id.* at 133 (citation omitted).

Further, probation agents do not have unreviewable discretion in other contexts. For example, a court may review a probation agent's allegedly arbitrary enforcement of a probation condition. *See State v. Miller*, 175 Wis. 2d 204, 212, 499 N.W.2d 215 (Ct. App. 1993). Similarly, a probation agent may not unilaterally revoke a defendant's probation but instead must petition the Department of Administration to do so. *See* Wis. Stat. § 973.10(2).

Serious due process concerns would result if this Court adopted Ozuna's position that probation agents have unreviewable discretion to make expunction determinations. A court has "a duty to construe a statute to avoid [a] potential constitutional violation." Plumbers Local No. 75 v. Coughlin, 166 Wis. 2d 971, 994, 481 N.W.2d 297 (Ct. App. 1992) (citation omitted). To avoid serious due process concerns, courts have interpreted statutes as allowing for judicial review of executive actions that affect statutory or constitutional rights. E.g., Bowen v. Mich. Acad. of Family Physicians, 476 U.S. 667, 681-82 n.12 (1986). In Bowen, for example, the Supreme Court rejected the government's

"extreme position" that judicial review was unavailable for substantial statutory and constitutional challenges to the government's administration of the Medicare Part B program. *Id.* Here, similarly, this Court should reject Ozuna's extreme contention that courts may not review probation agents' expunction determinations.

Ozuna's analogy between expunction denial and probation revocation highlights these due process concerns. (See Ozuna Br. 33.) Probationers have a due process right to a hearing before their probation may be revoked. State ex rel. Johnson, 50 Wis. 2d at 547-48. Probationers may file a certiorari action to seek judicial review of an administrative revocation decision. Id. at 549-50. A certiorari action is adequate to satisfy due process. Thorp v. Town of Lebanon, 2000 WI 60, ¶ 54, 235 Wis. 2d 610, 612 N.W.2d 59 (citing State ex rel. Johnson, 50 Wis. 2d at 549-50). Here, however, Ozuna argues that a court may not review a probation agent's determination as to whether a probationer is entitled to expunction. (Ozuna Br. 12, 14-16.) Further, Ozuna does not contend that a probationer may challenge the probation agent's expunction decision before a neutral decision-maker in an administrative hearing. If a defendant has a liberty or property interest in expunction, then the unavailability of ofagent's judicial review a probation expunction determination would likely violate due process.

Not only would judicial review protect defendants' due process rights, but it would also help to protect their right to expunction. As Ozuna points out, a probation agent files in circuit court one of two probation discharge forms, depending on whether the agent thinks that the defendant successfully completed probation. (*Id.* at 13-14.) Probation agents might make erroneous legal conclusions or factual mistakes in deciding which form to file, or they may

inadvertently file the wrong type of form. Judicial review will *benefit* defendants in cases where probation agents mistakenly determine that the defendants have not earned expunction. A determination of entitlement to expunction is too important to be left in the hands of probation agents alone.

Ozuna notes that the juvenile expunction statute, Wis. Stat. § 938.355(4m)(b), states that a court shall grant a juvenile's petition for expunction "if the court determines that the juvenile has satisfactorily complied with the conditions of his or her dispositional order." (*Id.* at 15.) Ozuna argues that the absence of clear language to that effect in Wis. Stat. § 973.015 shows that the Legislature did not intend for judicial review in cases under this statute. (*Id.*)

Ozuna's argument is unpersuasive. It is true that, "where a statute with respect to one subject contains a given provision, the omission of such provision from a similar statute concerning a related subject is significant in showing that a different intention existed." Heritage Farms, Inc. v. Markel Ins. Co., 2009 WI 27, ¶ 22, 316 Wis. 2d 47, 762 N.W.2d 652 (Heritage Farms I) (quotation marks and quoted source omitted). However, that canon of statutory construction is inapplicable if the similarity between two statutes is questionable. Id. ¶ 23. Further, canons of statutory construction are "not rules of law." State v. Popenhagen, 2008 WI 55, ¶ 42, 309 Wis. 2d 601, 749 N.W.2d 611.

Here, §§ 938.355 and 973.015 are not similar. Under § 938.355 a person may petition a circuit court to expunge a juvenile adjudication, and the court then decides whether to expunge the record. Wis. Stat. § 938.355(4m)(b). When

ruling on a juvenile petition for expunction, a court must determine whether expunction would benefit the offender or harm society. *Id.* § 938.355(4m)(a). By contrast, § 973.015 is located in an entirely different chapter, applies to criminal convictions, and has a two-stage procedure for expunction. Under this statute, a circuit court may grant conditional expunction of a criminal conviction at sentencing. See id. § 973.015(1m)(a)1. At that time, the court determines whether expunction would benefit the defendant or harm society. *Id.* The defendant automatically earns expunction by successfully completing the sentence and need not petition for expunction. Hemp, 359 Wis. 2d 320, \P 23, 32-34. Because of those differences, § 973.015, unlike § 938.355, does state that courts may determine appropriateness of expunction when reviewing expunction petitions. Because these two statutes are not similar, the juvenile expunction statute has no bearing on this case. Further, the inapplicable juvenile expunction statute does not trump the serious due process concerns that stem from Ozuna's view of § 973.015.

In short, this Court should hold that a circuit court may independently determine whether a probationer has successfully completed a sentence such that he is entitled to expunction.

D. Because Ozuna did not successfully complete his sentence, his probation agent's discharge form did not entitle him to expunction.

Ozuna's probation agent sent a discharge form to the circuit court that suggested that Ozuna had successfully completed his sentence. (14.) However, Ozuna did not successfully complete his sentence, as explained above.

Accordingly, the circuit court's receipt of this form did not entitle Ozuna to expunction.

This conclusion is based on the plain language of the expunction statute, which provides: "Upon successful completion of the sentence the detaining or probationary authority shall issue a certificate of discharge which shall be forwarded to the court of record and which shall have the effect of expunging the record." Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1m)(b) (emphasis added).

This Court in *Hemp* repeatedly noted that successful completion of a sentence is a prerequisite to earning expunction. For example, this Court stated that "[i]f a circuit court finds an individual defendant eligible for expungement and conditions expungement upon the successful completion of the sentence, then the plain language of the statute indicates that once the defendant successfully completes his sentence, he has earned, and is automatically entitled to, expungement." Hemp, 359 Wis. 2d 320, ¶ 23 (emphasis added). Similarly, the "probationary authority must forward the certificate of discharge to the court of record upon the individual defendant's successful completion of his sentence and at that point the process of expungement is selfexecuting." Id. ¶ 25 (emphasis added). Throughout its Hemp opinion, this Court tied a probationer's entitlement to expunction to his or her successful completion of his or her sentence. E.g., id. $\P\P$ 15, 16, 24, 27, 40, 43.

Ozuna argues that the self-executing process of expunction shows that he was entitled to expunction once the circuit court received his discharge form. (Ozuna Br. 12.) That argument is mistaken because this self-executing process occurs after a defendant *successfully* completes his sentence.

Ozuna similarly argues that the self-executing process of expunction shows that a circuit court may not review a probation agent's decision as to whether a defendant is entitled to expunction. (*Id.*) This argument has the same problem. In *Hemp*, this Court held that "[o]nce Hemp successfully completed probation the circuit court did not have the discretion to refuse to expunge Hemp's record." *Hemp*, 359 Wis. 2d 320, ¶ 39 (emphasis added). A circuit court may not "reverse its decision to find an individual eligible for expungement conditioned upon the successful completion of the sentence." *Id.* ¶ 24 (citation omitted). Ozuna's argument thus begs the question: Who decides whether he successfully completed his sentence? For the reasons explained above, a circuit court may independently review a probation agent's expunction determination.

Ozuna, unlike Hemp, did not successfully complete his sentence because he violated the no-alcohol condition of probation. Unlike in *Hemp*, the circuit court here did not second-guess its decision conditionally granting expunction. It followed that decision by denying expunction when Ozuna did not satisfy the conditions for receiving expunction.

In sum, because Ozuna did not successfully complete probation, he was not automatically entitled to expunction when the circuit court received his probation discharge form.

II. The circuit court did not deprive Ozuna of procedural due process when it denied him expunction.

The circuit court did not violate Ozuna's due process rights when it denied him expunction.

A. Controlling legal principles.

"The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides in part: 'nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law" Casteel v. McCaughtry, 176 Wis. 2d 571, 578, 500 N.W.2d 277 (1993) (alteration in Casteel). "In procedural due process claims, the deprivation by state action of a constitutionally protected interest in "life, liberty, or property" is not in itself unconstitutional; what is unconstitutional is the deprivation of such an interest without due process of law." Id. at 579 (quoting Zinermon v. Burch, 494 U.S. 113, 125 (1990)) (quotation marks omitted).

To establish a procedural due process violation, a litigant must show that (1) he had a protected life, liberty, or property interest, and (2) the State deprived him of that interest without due process of law. Brown v. State Dep't of Children & Families, 2012 WI App 61, ¶ 31, 341 Wis. 2d 449, 819 N.W.2d 827 (citation omitted). A court may dispose of a procedural due process claim under either step without reaching the other one. See Adams v. Northland Equip. Co., 2014 WI 79, ¶ 67, 356 Wis. 2d 529, 850 N.W.2d 272; Jones v. Dane Cty., 195 Wis. 2d 892, 914, 918-19, 537 N.W.2d 74 (Ct. App. 1995). A court reviews alleged violations of due process de novo. Capoun Revocable Trust v. Ansari, 2000 WI App 83, ¶ 6, 234 Wis. 2d 335, 610 N.W.2d 129 (citation omitted).

B. In denying Ozuna expunction, the circuit court did not deprive him of a liberty or property interest.

Ozuna's procedural due process claim fails under the first step because he has not shown that he was deprived of a liberty or property interest.

1. Ozuna does not have a liberty interest in expunction.

"Reputation by itself is neither liberty nor property within the meaning of the due process clause of the fourteenth amendment." Weber v. City of Cedarburg, 129 Wis. 2d 57, 73, 384 N.W.2d 333 (1986) (Weber II) (citing Paul v. Davis, 424 U.S. 693, 701 (1976)). "[R]eputation can only rise to the level of a constitutionally protected interest when some more tangible interest accompanies the loss of reputation." State v. Hazen, 198 Wis. 2d 554, 561, 543 N.W.2d 503 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing Paul, 424 U.S. at 701). The Supreme Court in Paul mentioned employment as an example of a tangible interest. Paul, 424 U.S. at 701.

Here, Ozuna's interest in his reputation is inadequate to establish that he has a liberty interest in expunction. A juvenile offender in *Hazen*, for example, argued that two particular Wisconsin statutes violated procedural due process by placing him in adult criminal court and thus revealing his identity to the public without a hearing. *Hazen*, 198 Wis. 2d at 556, 558. The court of appeals held that Hazen's interest in protecting his reputation by keeping his criminal proceedings confidential was insufficient to establish a liberty interest. *Id.* at 560-61.⁴ Here, similarly, Ozuna's interest in confidentiality of his criminal record is insufficient to establish a liberty interest. Ozuna has not shown that he suffered tangible harm, such as loss of an

⁴ The court of appeals also applied a test from *Hewitt v. Helms*, 459 U.S. 460 (1983), when determining whether Hazen had a liberty or property interest. *State v. Hazen*, 198 Wis. 2d 554, 560-61, 543 N.W.2d 503 (Ct. App. 1995). The court expressed "grave doubts" that the *Hewitt* test is still good law. *Id.* at 560. Here, this Court should decline to address *Hewitt* because Ozuna has not relied on it.

employment opportunity, because his convictions were not expunged.

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